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DESCRIBETHE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The U. S. Coast Guard Yard at Curtis Bay in northern Anne Arundel County contains 
structures of historical and architectural significance. These structures are located in 
an area which includes the northeast quadrant of the Yard, a southeastern section along 
the western shore of Arundel Cove and a large square center portion of the Yard. This 
area, comprising the original industrial waterfront and administrative center of the 
Yard, is visually and historically distinct from the western Yard and areas east of 
Arundel Cove which were acquired after 1942, containing modern prefabricated industrial 
structures and military personnel barracks. Complexity and density of arrangements of 
structures on the Yard necessitates the inclusion of eighteen non-contributing structures 
within the proposed historic district. None of the original wood frame structures re­ 
main of the U.S. Revenue Cutter Service Station, the predecessor of the U.S. Coast Guard, 
which occupied Yard land from 1899 to 1905. The earliest buildings on the Yard, Public 
Works Shops (Building No..12, built 1914) and the Power Plant (Building No. 11, built 
1911) continue activities of buildings formerly on their sites. Both buildings are one 
story gable roofed, steel frame structures sheathed in corrugated steel. Both buildings 
were enlarged and their interiors renovated to accommodate changing industrial production 
needs during Yard modernization programs prior to World War II. Three other steel frame, 
metal sheathed industrial buildings were later erected along the western shore of Arundel 
Cove and are included in this nomination; Boat Building Section (Building No. 5, erected 
1931); Small Boats and Mechanical Outfitting Shop (No. 16, erected 1931); and No. 11, 
Machine Shop (No. 11, erected ly32j. Except for one-story prefabricated additions made 
at ground level to Building No. 5 (to house employee lockers and tool rooms), alterations 
to these buildings since their erection have been minimal. All of these structures are 
tall one story buildings with gable roofs,'with the exception of the one and a half 
story, mom"tor-roofed No. 11. They can be characterized by embodying high standards for 
their day for maximum interior light and safety features, with high proportions of 
facades given to industrial glass set into steel sash, interior loft workspaces and cement 
slab floors. Five two-and three-story steel and concrete industrial structures veneered 
with brick,were added to the Yard complex during a program of building prior to World War 
II. These structures, included in this nomination, are: Enlisted Men's Clubs/Switchboard/ 
Warehouse Building (No. 3, built 1934); Graphics and Repro/Photo Lab/Woodworking Shop 
(Building No. 4, built 1939); Mobile Equipment maintenance section (Building No. 66, 
built 1939); Mechanical Shop/Mold Loft (Building No. 58, built 1939); and Pipe Section/ 
Materials Handling/Civilian Cafeteria (Building No. 8, built 1942). The exterior ap­ 
pearance of Building Nos. 8 and 58 have not been significantly altered. Nos. 3, 4 and 
6 have been altered to meet changing interior uses, principally through elimination of 
windows by bricking in or covering with sheet metal, or conversion of industrial glass to 
modern weatherproof materials in the interests of energy conservation. Buildings in this 
group are typically rectangular in plan, with two story brick and blocks enclosing a long 
center portion, most of the facades of which are filled with industrial glass set into 
steel sash. An additional group of five buildings, also erected during modernization 
programs prior to World War II, is included in this nomination. These structures are: 
Administration Building (No. 1, erected 1942;) Baltimore Group Building (No. 70, built 
1937); Fleet Hall (Building No. 33, built 1939); Small Arms Storage (Building No. 72, 
built 1937); and Classroom (Building No. 14, built 1935). With the exception of No. 14, 
these structures are two and three story steel and concrete, brick veneered buildings 
in large-scale Colonial Revival styles with some Art Deco influences. No. 14 is a small

(SEE CONTINUATION SHEET NO. 1)
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one-story frame cottage. Except for conversion of original windows to modern sash on 
Building Nos. 70 and 33, these buildings have been altered little in exterior appear­ 
ance. Fourteen storage sheds located in the northeast quadrant of the Yard are also 
included in this nomination: Building Nos. 38, 39, 21, 23, 44, 45, 46, 52 and 57 
(built 1928); No. 41 (built 1930); and Nos. 43, 24, 25 and 26 (built 1942-43. These 
sheds are extremely long rectangles in plan, and are one-story gable roofed structures 
consisting of wood frames covered with corrugated metal sheets resting on cement slab 
floors. Finally, two railroad structures, Railroad Siding and Train Shed (Building 
No. 89, built c. 1942) and Rail Shipways and Turntable (Structure No. 61, c. 1930) 
are included in this nomination. No. 89 is a steel framed, wooden sided structure 
covering a railroad siding and cement platform. No. 61 represents the remains of a 
rail shipways used for hauling small boats out of Arundel Cove waters for repair.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The U.S. Coast Guard Yard at Curtis Bay possesses significance to American military 
history, has had important influences upon the social/economic history of the locality 
of Curtis Bay and the State of Maryland, and contains within its boundaries 31 
structures reflecting innovations in industrial building styles and techniques which 
are international in scope, representing several waves of intensive building at the 
Yard over a period ^panning most of the first half of the 20th century (1911-43).' 
The military significance of the Yard dates from 1901 with the opening of the first 
Revenue Cutter Service Station on Arundel Cove on a portion of present Yard land. 
The Cutter Service, forerunner of the modern Coast Guard, operated a small ship 
repair facility on the Cove until the service was abolished and the Coast Guard 
established in 1905. The Arundel Cove facility was also the site of the first Coast 
Guard Academy. 2 The Yard played a strategic role in supplying the country with

] This nomination is the result of the findings of architectural and archeological sites 
surveys performed by the Maryland Historical Trust during 1980-81. The archeological 
survey, completed in July 1981 by D.J. Pogue, W.E. Clark and I.E. Akerman has been 
published by the Maryland Historical Trust. An architectural survey was undertaken 
during the period July 18, 1981 through August 18, 1981, by Susanne Moore, Historic 
Sites Surveyor for the Maryland Historical Trust. Preliminary study of Yard con­ 
figuration and building chronology, with on-site inspection and evaluation of all 
standing structures, established that those having historical and architectural 
significance are concentrated on the western shore of Arundel Cove, with extensions 
into the northeast quadrant and central portions of the Yard, as shown in detail 
on the accompanying map (Attachment 1). Historical study of the area, including 
research in local and national repositories and oral history interviews with Yard 
employees knowledgeable about the history of the facility were supplemented by on- 
site documentation of historic structures. This documentation consisted of detailed, 
written descriptions reproduced on Maryland Historical Trust inventory forms, and 
photographic documentation, supplemented by search through Yard photographic archives 
for historic photographs showing construction of buildings, structures now demolished, 
interiors and aerial views.

2The Coast Guard Academy was moved to New London, Connecticut in 1910 and the original 
Academy building razed during subsequent building programs at the Yard.

(SEE CONTINUATION SHEET No. 2)
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various types of vessels needed for national defense, most notably during World War II 
and the Vietnam conflict, and produced prefabricated housing for the Navy Antarctic 
Expedition in the late 1950s, a project which had humanitarian as well as military 
objectives. In addition to its historical military importance, the yard is signifi­ 
cant as well to State and local social/economic history through its role as a major 
employer of regional scale, attracting hundreds of immigrant families as well as 
Eastern Shore boat builders to the Curtis Bay area. Finally, 31 structures repre­ 
sentative of distinct international industrial building styles of the early 20th 
century are extant within the Yard's boundaries. These structures can be character­ 
ized as four distinct types: (1) 14 storage sheds built 1928-1942 with stylistic 
connections to iron buildings designed for military use in Britain in the 1850s which 
may be considered prototypical of modern prefabrication techniques; (2) 10 industrial 
buildings reflecting the influence of early works by 20th century industrial designers 
such as American architect Albert Kahn (1869-1942); (3) 5 administrative and personnel 
support structures erected in ^re-World War II building programs at the Yard, reflec­ 
ting the importance of the Yard during those years as a center or wartime production 
and national defense; and (4) railroad structures which remain as important artifacts 
of systems of intra-Yard material transport and movement of wooden vessels for repair.

HISTORY AND DEVELOPMENT

1. Early Settlement of the Curtis Bay Area. The Curtis Bay area of Anne Arundel 
County, as shown on Augustine Hermann's map of 1673, was populated by several 
residental settlements along the Patapsco River by the late seventeenth century. 
One of the parcels of land that later would become part of the United States 
Coast Guard Yard was patented by 1663 with the rest of the area patented by 
1685. From that time throughout the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, the 
land along Curtis Creek around Arundel Cove was continuously occupied by 
primarily agricultural uses.

2. 1899-1928. The location of Arundel Cove and its unusual physical characteristics 
are salient to the history of the U.S. Coast Guard Yard. The Cove offered a 
-deep natural harbor protected by the immediate topography from the silting 
conditions prevalent in many other inlets of Curtis Creek. The presence in 
the Cove of a natural deep water harbor and protected anchorage with easy 
access via the Patapsco River to the Chesapeake Bay--and ultimately the 
Atlantic Ocean—led to the selection of the site for establishment of a U.S. 
Revenue Cutter Service Station there in 1901. United States naval victories 
in Manila Bay in the conflict with Spain in 1898 led to a new awareness on 
the part of the American public of the need for an efficient and modern naval 
fleet. A 34-acre parcel on Arundel Cove was leased from a local landowner in 
1899. Two years later the first Revenue Cutter Service Station in the U.S. 
opened for the repair of ships used in enforcement of U.S. customs laws within 
territorial waters. The first buildings erected on the Yard were four wood

(SEE CONTINUATION SHEET No. 3)
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framed structures consisting of a lumber mill, storage shop, sail loft and an 
administration building. None of these structures survives, having been replaced 
by modern facilities which are the subject of this nomination. The success of 
this first Station led to the subsequent purchase in 1900 of the leased parcel 
and two others totaling 65 acres at a proce of $30,000.

The Revenue Cutter Service was abolished and the U. S. Coast Guard established 
in 1905. Yard construction expanded at a slow but steady rate during the first 
two decades of this century. A major southward expansion of Yard property took 
place by means of infill and reclamation of land from Curtis Creek during this 
period. Two structures from the period 1900-28 remain as part of the present 
yard, the Public Works Shops (Building No. 12) and the Power Plant (Building 
No. 15). These structures continued the activities of earlier Yard buildings 
which they replaced. While no original buildings remain, the orientation to 
Arundel Cove as the industrial hub of the early Yard was established by the 
boat building, foundry and machine shop activities which took place in those 
early buildings, and set the focus for subsequent rebuilding and additions to 
the Yard Plant until World War II.

3. 1928-1938. Considerable building activity took place on the Yard during the 
pre-War period, much of it supported through government building programs. 
The present Yard configuration was basically established during that period. 
The primary focus of this building effort was removal of remaining wood frame 
industrial structures on the waterfront and replacement with three modern 
steel frame, corrugated steel sheathed buildings, all of which continued 
ship building and repair activities of earlier buildings and all of which are 
included in this nomination: Small Boats and Mechanical Outfitting (Building 
No. 16; Boat Building Section (Building No. 5); and Machine Shop (Building No. 
11). In addition, Buildings No. 12 and 15 discussed above were enlarged and 
renovated to meet changing production needs at the Yard. These metal buildings 
embody high standards for their day for clean, well lighted, efficient indus­ 
trial plants in demand by a modernizing work force and an increasingly demanding 
system of production. Design elements of these buildings reflect the influences 
of early 20th century European and American designs for factories and public 
buildings, most notably that of American industrial architect Albert Kahn 
(1869-1942), premier designer of industrial buildings for the rapidly developing 
American automobile industry.

A second group of historic structures, the bulk of which were erected during 
this period, is the storage shed group in the northeast quadrant of the Yard. 
These structures are one story, gable roofed wood frame buildings covered 
with sheet metal bolted directly to their frames. As such they are very 
similar to the "Gloucester Hut", a prefabricated metal structure manufactured 
in Britain for use by the army during the Crimean War in the 1850s, a design 
considered prototypical of modern prefabricated metal building techniques.

(SEE CONTINUATION SHEET No. 4)
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4. 1939-1944. The pre-War period was one of expansion and intensive building at 
the Yard. Ten new buildings were added to the Yard during that period within 
the area included in this nomination. Five concrete and steel, brick-veneered 
industrial buildings were erected, reflecting the expansion of Yard wartime 
activities and increasing specialization in some aspects of shipbuilding (such 
as in ship electronics) necessary to the production of modern war vessels. 
The buildings in this group included in this nomination are Enlisted Men's Club/ 
Switchboard/Warehouse (No. 3); Graphics/Repro/Vhoto Lab/Woodworking Shop (No. 4); 
Mobile Equipment Maintenance Section (No. 66); Mechanical Shop/Mold Loft (No. 58); 
and r^ipe Section/Materials Handling/Civilian Cafeteria (No. 8). The design of 
these structures is typical of early 20th century designs by German architect 
r>eter Behrens (1868-1940) for factory buildings in Berlin and designs by 
Albert Kahn for the Ford Motor Works in Detroit. The influence of early works 
by the .latter designer is particularly notable in these buildings in their 
incorporation of traditional building elements such as castellated fronts, 
corner bastions, and decorative buttresses and brickwork.

A second group of buildings was erected during this period to house the growing 
nasdsof military personnel and administrative functions of the Yard. Four steel 
and concrete, brick-veneered buildings were added to the Yard: Baltimore Group 
Building (No. 70) and adjunct Small Arms Storage (No. 72); Fleet Hall (Barracks, 
Building No. 33); and Administration Building (No. 1). These buildings were 
styled as large-scale Colonial Revival and Art Deco structures. The presence 
of this group of administrative and personnel support structures on the Yard 
reflects the extent of the effort to modernize the complex as an important 
national defense facility prior to and during World War II.

The concentrated activity of World War II at the Yard prompted expansion and 
acquisition of new land for industrial plant expansion and addition of new 
living quarters for military personnel. Extensive acreage was acquired to 
the west of the Yard, where modern prefabricated industrial buildings were 
erected. East of Arundel Cove additional land was acquired for new barracks 
buildings. In addition, several acres of land was reclaimed from Curtis 
Creek along the southern boundary of the Yard, on which were built two ship­ 
building ways, a 3,000 ton floating drydock and 300 foot pier. Structures 
on these new land parcels were examined during the historic sites survey 
and found not to possess architectural or historical significance at this 
time. These additions, particularly the western land parcel on which new 
modern shipbuilding facilities were built during World War II, abruptly 
changed the original Yard configuration, diverting the major industrial hub 
from Arundel Cove to the southern and western bulkheads on Curtis Creek. 
The Yard thus evolved quickly from the tight-knit shipyard it had been prior 
to the War to a sprawling industrial plant by 1944. By the close of World 
War II, the Yard was one of the best equipped and most efficient small 
industrial plants in the country.
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west along the north curbline of Billard Avenue; turning at a right angle then 
going north on a line drawn between the northeast corner curbline of an intersection 
formed by Billard Avenue and a driveway leading north from Billard Avenue to 
Building No. 70, to the southeast corner curbline of a driveway running east and 
west on the north side of Building No. 33; turning at a right angle then going east 
to the northeast corner of Building No. 33's lot; making a right angle turn then 
going south along the west curb of this same driveway to the east of Building No. 33 
to the intersection of Glover Street; making a right angle turn and going east 
along the south curbline of Glover Street to the intersection of Hamlet Avenue; 
making a right angle turn then going north along the east curbline of Hamlet Avenue 
to the intersection with the north Yard boundary line; making a right angle turn 
and going east along this northern boundary to a point north of the southeast 
corner of Building No. 26; making a right angle turn and going south from this 
point to the point of beginning.

BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION

Boundaries have been drawn to include all historic structures (concentrated on the 
eastern half of the property) and to exclude non-contributing structures as far 
as possible. Boundary lines refer to actual visual components of the Yard property: 
Curb lines of named streets, railroad tracks and the bulkheaded waterfront of 
Arundel Cove delineate the district and separate it visually from the remainder 
of the complex. The park-like grass plot bounded by Reinberg and Glover Streets 
and Hamlet and Shoemaker Avenues is an integral part of the central yard land­ 
scape and buffers the sounds and activity of the industrial waterfront from the 
administrative and personnel activities of Buildings No. 1, 70 and 33. Building 
No. 28B has been excluded from the district to avoid fragmentation of the boundary. 
The grassed recreation field north of Building 28B has no relation to the historic 
structures within the district and has been excluded. Buildings No. 79, 63 and 63A 
outside the west boundary of the district and the parking lot and Buildings south 
of the district boundaries are modern functional structures not oriented to the 
history and activities of the area within the district and have been excluded.
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